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ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

Plaintiff BOBBY JINDAL, in his official capacity as the Governor of the State of

Louisiana, submits this original Complaint against Defendants, the UNITED STATES

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION and ARNE DUNCAN, in his Official Capacity as U.S.

Secretary of Education, respectfully showing the Court as follows:

I.  NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This case involves an attempt by the executive branch to implement

national education reform far beyond the intentions of Congress; in fact, in

contradiction to 50 years of Congressional policy forbidding federal direction or control

of curriculum, the cornerstone of education policy.  The claims at issue are not directed

to the enabling legislation itself, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, 



Pub. L. No. 111-5, 123 Stat. 115 (2009), but instead to the Defendants’ implementation of

that authority in a manner that Congress plainly never intended and that the Tenth

Amendment bars.  In short, through regulatory and rule making authority, Defendants

have constructed a scheme that effectively forces States down a path toward a national

curriculum by requiring, as a condition of funding under the President's Race to the

Top programs, that States join "consortia of states" and agree to adopt a common set of

content standards and to implement the assessment protocols and policies created by

that consortium, all under the direction of the United States Department of Education. 

It is impossible to square the executive actions at issue with settled Congressional

authority or the Tenth Amendment. 

II.  JURISDICTION

2. This is a declaratory judgment action pursuant to  28 U.S.C. §§ 2201- 2202.

This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this

action arises under the United States Constitution, and sovereign immunity is waived

for the purpose of reviewing a final agency action under 5 U.S.C. § 701, et seq.

III.  VENUE

3. Venue is proper before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e), in that

the Defendants are agencies of the United States or officers thereof acting in their

official capacity, and the official domicile of the Governor of the State of Louisiana is in
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the Middle District of Louisiana. 

IV.  PARTIES

4. Plaintiff, Bobby Jindal, is the Governor of the State of Louisiana and brings

this action in his official capacity and on behalf of the State of Louisiana.  Pursuant to

the Constitution and laws of the State of Louisiana, Governor Jindal is the Chief

Executive Officer of the State. 

5. Defendant the Department of Education (“Department”) is a department

within the Executive Branch of the United States, and Defendant Arne Duncan is its

Secretary.

V.  FACTS AND AUTHORITY AT ISSUE  

Federal Limitations on Education Policy

6. The sovereignty of the States is assured by the Tenth Amendment to the

Constitution of the United States, which reserves to the States all “powers not delegated

to the United States by the Constitution.”  U.S. Const. amend X. “State sovereignty is

not just an end in itself: ‘Rather, federalism secures to citizens the liberties that derive

from the diffusion of sovereign power.’”  New York v. United States, 505 U.S. 144, 181

(1992) (internal citations omitted).

7. The Constitution makes no provision for federal power in setting

education policy.  Thus, as acknowledged by the Department, “the federal role in
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education is limited.  Because of the Tenth Amendment, most education policy is

decided at the state and local levels.”  U.S. Dept. of Education, Policy Overview,

http://www2.ed.gov/policy/landing.jhtml.

8. Congress has repeatedly drawn a bright line between the federal

government’s limited authority to influence education policy and the exclusive

authority of the States to define, direct, and control the content of curriculum,

instructional programs, and materials of instruction.  

9. The General Education Provisions Act of 1965  (“GEPA”) expressly

provides: “No provision of any applicable program shall be construed to authorize any

department, agency, officer, or employee of the United States to exercise any direction,

supervision, or control over the curriculum, program of instruction, administration, or

personnel of any educational institution, school, or school system, or over the selection

of library resources, textbooks, or other printed or published instructional materials by

any educational institution or school system . . ..” 20 U.S.C. § 1232a (emphasis added).

10. An “applicable program” under the GEPA “means any program for which

the Secretary or the Department has administrative responsibility as provided by law or

by delegation of authority pursuant to law. The term includes each program for which

the Secretary or the Department has administrative responsibility under the

Department of Education Organization Act [20 U.S.C.A. § 3401 et seq.] or under Federal
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law effective after the effective date of that Act.”  20 U.S.C. § 1221(c)(1). 

11. When establishing the Department of Education within the executive

branch through the Department of Education Organization Act of 1979 (“DEOA”),

Congress explicitly reserved the “Rights of local governments and educational

institutions” as follows:

It is the intention of the Congress in the establishment of the Department

to protect the rights of State and local governments and public and private

educational institutions in the areas of educational policies and

administration of programs and to strengthen and improve the control of such

governments and institutions over their own educational programs and

policies.  The establishment of the Department of Education shall not

increase the authority of the Federal Government over education or

diminish the responsibility for education which is reserved to the States

and the local school systems and other instrumentalities of the States. 

20 U.S.C. § 3403(a) (emphasis added).

12. The DEOA likewise prohibits the construction of any “provision of a

program administered by the Secretary or by any other officer of the Department . . . to

authorize the Secretary or any such officer to exercise any direction, supervision, or control

over the curriculum, program of instruction, administration, or personnel of any

educational institution, school, or school system, over any accrediting agency or

association, or over the selection or content of library resources, textbooks, or other

instructional materials by any educational institution or school system, except to the

extent authorized by law.”  20 U.S.C. § 3403(b).
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13. The Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (“ESEA”), as

amended by the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (“NCLB”), reiterates clear

Congressional intent to prohibit federal direction of curriculum and programs of

instruction: “Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to authorize an officer or

employee of the Federal Government to mandate, direct, or control a State, local

educational agency, or school's curriculum, program of instruction, or allocation of State

or local resources, or mandate a State or any subdivision thereof to spend any funds or

incur any costs not paid for under this chapter.” 20 U.S.C. § 7907(a) (emphasis added).

14. More specifically, Section 7907(b) of the ESEA, titled “Prohibition on

endorsement of curriculum,” provides:  “Notwithstanding any other prohibition of

Federal law, no funds provided to the Department under this chapter may be used by

the Department to endorse, approve, or sanction any curriculum designed to be used in an

elementary school or secondary school.” (Emphasis added).  And Section 7907(c)

prohibits the mandating of education content or standards as a condition of funding: 

“Notwithstanding any other provision of Federal law, no State shall be required to have

academic content or student academic achievement standards approved or certified by the

Federal Government, in order to receive assistance under this chapter.” (Emphasis

added). This refrain is repeated throughout Title I of ESEA.  See 20 U.S.C. §

6311(b)(1)(A) (“[A] State shall not be required to submit such [Title I content and
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achievement standards] to the Secretary”); 20 U.S.C. § 6311(e)(1)(F) (“The Secretary

shall . . . not have the authority to require a State, as a condition of approval of the State

[Title I] plan, to include in, or delete from, such plan one or more specific elements of

the State’s academic content standards or to use specific academic assessment

instruments or items.”); and 20 U.S.C. § 6575 (“Nothing in this title [Title I of ESEA]

shall be construed to authorize an officer or employee of the Federal Government to

mandate, direct, or control a State, local educational agency, or school’s specific

instructional content, academic achievement standards and assessments, curriculum, or

program of instructions.”)

15. In the realm of education policy, Congress itself has drawn the line of

federalism at protecting the rights of States and local governments to define, direct and

control academic content, curriculum, assessments, and programs of instruction. 

16. This “line in the sand” has been threatened, however, by President

Obama’s decision to nationalize education policy as a means to reach his “goal of

restoring, by 2020, the nation’s position as the world leader in college graduates.”  See

75 Fed. Reg. 18171 (April 9, 2010).  To sidestep clearly expressed Congressional intent,

the Administration rooted its plan not in education legislation but in the American

Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”), Pub. L. No. 111-5, 123 Stat. 115

(2009).  Relying on general language in the ARRA authorizing federal grants to support
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the efforts of the States to improve standards, assessments and outcomes (123 Stat. 282-

283), the Department has created a number of programs under the banner of Race to the

Top that operate in concert to effectively nationalize education curriculum by

compelling a uniform set of standards and assessments. 

Race to the Top: Using Grants and Federally-Commissioned Consortia to Herd

States toward a Nationalized Curriculum

17. In 2009, the National Governor’s Association’s Center for Best Practices

and the Council of Chief State School Officers founded the Common Core State

Standards Initiative (“CCSSI”) to create a set of uniform standards that could be

voluntarily used by the states to improve the quality of public education (“Common

Core standards”).  At base, the Common Core standards were designed to define the

knowledge and skills students should have in their K-12 education in order to graduate

from high school and to succeed in entry-level, credit bearing college courses and in

workforce training programs.  Common Core standards are divided into two categories:

(1) college- and career-ready standards, which address what students are expected to

have learned upon graduation from high school, and (2) K-12 standards, which address

expectations for elementary school through high school.  See Introduction to Common

Core State Standards (2010), http://www.corestandards.org/assets/ccssi-

introduction.pdf.
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18. Sections 14005 and 14006 of the ARRA authorize the issuance of grants to

States to improve “Maintenance of effort” (§14005[d][1]), “Achieving equity in teacher

distribution” (§14005[d][2]), “Improving collection and use of data” (§14005[d][3]), and

“Standards and assessments” (§14005[d][4]).  On this authority, the Administration

funded its Race to the Top (“RTTT”) program.  

19. The RTTT program included the Race to the Top Fund (under §14005), 

which distributed $4 billion in grant funding to States that agreed to comply with

program conditions, and the Race to the Top Assessment Program (under §14006),

which distributed the remaining funding “to consortia of States to develop assessments

. . . and measure student achievement against standards designed to ensure that all

students gain the knowledge and skills needed to succeed in college and the

workplace.”  75 Fed. Reg. 18171 (April 9, 2010).

20. According to the Department, the RTTT program is “centered on four core

educational reform areas:

Adopting rigorous standards and assessments that prepare students for

success in college and the workplace and to compete in a global economy;

Building data systems that measure student growth and success and

inform teachers and principals how they can improve instruction;

Recruiting, developing, rewarding, and retaining effective teachers and

principals, especially where they are needed most; and
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Turning around the Nation’s lowest-achieving schools.“

See 77 Fed. Reg. 49654 (Aug. 16, 2012), 78 Fed. Reg. 48005 (Aug. 6, 2013).

21. The first two planks of the RTTT platform - federally directing standards,

assessments and programs of instruction - are frontally at odds with clearly expressed

Congressional intent. 

22. The Race to the Top Fund included several “priorities.”  Priority 1 is an

“absolute priority” for a Comprehensive Approach to Education Reform.  Priority 2 is a

“competitive preference priority” for Emphasis on Science, Technology, Engineering,

and Mathematics.  Priorities 3 - 6 are “invitational priorities,” relating to innovations in

early learning, the expansion and use of longitudinal data systems, coordination of

elementary and secondary education with post-secondary learning, and school-level

reform, respectively.  See 74 Fed. Reg. 59836 - 59837 (Nov. 18, 2009).

23. To satisfy the State Reform Conditions Criteria for RTTT funding, States

are required to adopt common K-12 standards.  Guidance provided by the Department

for scoring RTTT applications effectively compels the adoption of a single, nationalized

set of standards: a state earns “high” points if it is part of a consortium consisting of a

majority of states that jointly develop and adopt common standards, while a state earns

“medium” or “low” points “if the consortium includes one-half of the States in the

country or less.”  In addition, the “internationally benchmarked standards” refer to a
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“common set of K-12 standards” that the U.S. Department defines as “a set of content

standards that define what students must know and be able to do and that are

substantially identical across all states in a [standards] consortium.”  Id.

24. In 2010, the Department awarded RTTT Phase 1 and Phase 2 grants to 11

States and the District of Columbia.  In 2011, the Department awarded Phase 3 grants to

seven additional States, which were finalist to Phase 1 and Phase 2 funding.  All 18

States pledged to adopt the Common Core standards to satisfy the requirement of

“adopting internationally benchmarked standards.”

25. The RTTT Assessment Program “provides funding to a consortia of States

to develop assessments” aligned with the common K-12 standards (the Common Core

standards) that are effectively compelled by the RTTT’s priority scoring rubric.  See 75

Fed. Reg. 18171 (April 9, 2010) (RTTT’s scoring “priorities”).  

26. The RTTT Assessment Program created the Comprehensive Assessment

Systems Program and the High School Course Assessment Programs to “support the

development of assessment systems by consortia of States.”  75 Fed. Reg. 18171 (April 9,

2010).   “Eligible applicants are consortia of States.”  Id. at 18174 - 18176. 

27. Under the Comprehensive Assessment Systems and High School Course

Assessment Programs, a State must enter into a “binding agreement” with a consortium

of States.  “These binding agreements must-
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(a) Detail the activities that members of the consortium will perform;

(b) Bind each member of the consortium to every statement and assurance

made in the application;

(c) Include an assurance, signed by the State’s chief procurement official

(or designee),  that the State has reviewed its applicable procurement rules

and determined that it may participate and make procurements through

the consortium; and 

(d) Be signed by the Governor, the State’s chief school officer, and, if

applicable, the president of the State board of education.”   

75 Fed. Reg. 18171 at 18174 - 18176 (April 9, 2010).

28. The Comprehensive Assessment Systems and High School Course

Assessment Programs follow the “priority” scoring rubric of the Race to the Top Fund. 

See 74 Fed. Reg. 59836 - 59837 (Nov. 18, 2009).  As an “absolute priority” an applicant

consortium “must demonstrate in its application that it will develop and implement an

assessment system that” inter alia “[m]easures student knowledge and skills against a

common set of college- and career-ready standards” (in mathematics and English

language for the Comprehensive Assessments System Program and “in subjects for

which such a set of standards exists, or otherwise against State or other rigorous

standards” for the High School Course Assessment Program).  75 Fed. Reg. 18171 at

18174 - 18175 (April 9, 2010).

29. For the Comprehensive Assessment Systems and High School Course

Programs a “common set of college- and career-ready standards means a set of
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academic content standards for grades K-12 that (a) define what a student must know

and be able to do at each grade level; (b) if mastered, would ensure that the student is

college- and career-ready” upon graduation from high school; and “(c) are

substantially identical across all States in a consortium.” Id. at 18177 (emphasis

added).

30. “An eligible applicant receiving a Comprehensive Assessment Systems

grant must ensure that the summative assessment components of the assessment system

(in both mathematics and English language arts) will be fully implemented statewide in

each State in the consortium no later than the 2014-2015 school year.”  75 Fed. Reg.

18171 (April 9, 2010) (emphasis added).

31. “An eligible applicant receiving a High School Course Assessment

Programs grant must ensure that at least one course assessment developed under the

assessment program will be implemented in each State in the consortium no later than

the 2013-2014 school year and that all assessments in the assessment program will be

operational no later than the 2014-2015 school year.”  Id. at 18172. (emphasis added).

32.  In 2012, the Department expanded the RTTT program to including the

Race to the Top - District competition, which is designed to extend the reach of RTTT’s

objectives to the grassroots of education policy by inducing local education districts to

“align” their systems with Common Core standards and the implementation of
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assessment policies and products created by “consortia of States.” See 77 Fed. Reg. 49654

(Aug. 16, 2012); 78 Fed. Reg. 48006 (Aug. 6, 2013).  As stated by the Department, “[t]he

Race to the Top - District competition is aimed squarely at classrooms and the all-

important relationship between educators and students.” Background on Race to the

Top - District Competition, http://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop-district/

2012-background.pdf.  See also Budget FY 2011 - Reviving Job Creation and Laying a

New Foundation for Economic Growth, http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/BUDGET-

2011-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2011-BUD-3.pdf (“The Budget [for FY 2011] provides $1.35

billion to continue the President’s Race to the Top challenge and to expand the

competition from States to school districts that are ready for comprehensive reform.”) 

33. The Race to the Top - District program follows a similar priority scoring

rubric as the other RTTT programs, grounded foremost in an “absolute” priority of a

common set of college- and career-ready standards defined as “content standards for

kindergarten through 12th grade that . . . must be either (1) standards that are common

to a significant number of States; or (2) standards that are approved by a State network

of institutions of higher education, which must certify that students who meet the

standards will not need remedial course work at the postsecondary level.” See 77 Fed.

Reg. 49655 - 49657 (Aug. 16, 2012); 78 Fed. Reg. 48008 - 48009 (Aug. 6, 2013).  
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34. According to the Department, beginning in 2015, funds under the RTTT

programs “will be available only to states that are implementing assessments based on

college- and career-ready standards that are common to a significant number of states.”

A Blueprint for Reform, The Reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary

Education Act, http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/blueprint/blueprint.pdf.

Consortia of States: Federally-Commissioned Conduits for Replacing the

“Existing Patchwork of State Standards” with a Nationalized Standard

35. The Department fully understands that the objectives of the RTTT

programs are at odds with State authority over education policy in general and

curriculum in particular.  In responding to public comment regarding the number of

States in an approved consortium, the Department explained:

The goal of common K-12 standards is to replace the existing patchwork of State

standards that results in unequal expectations based on geography alone.  Some

of the major benefits of common standards will be the shared understanding of

teaching and learning goals; consistency of data permitting research on effective

practices in staffing and instruction; and the coordination of information that could

inform the development and implement of curriculum, instructional resources, and

professional development.  The Department believes that the cost savings and

efficiency resulting from collaboration in a consortium should be rewarded

through the Race to the Top program when the impact on educational practices

is pronounced.  And generally, we believe that the larger the number of States within a

consortium, the greater the benefits and potential impact. 

74 Fed. Reg. 59733 (Nov. 18, 2009) (emphasis added).  This statement reflects the

foundational case for centralized control of education.   It is patently incompatible with
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the Tenth Amendment and Congressional intent.

36. Two state consortia won initial awards totaling $330 million under the

Race to the Top Assessment Program: The Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for

College and Careers (“PARCC”) consisting of twenty-six states and the SMARTER

Balanced Assessment Consortium (“SBAC”) consisting of thirty-one states.  See

http://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/us-secretary-education-duncan-announces-win

ners-competition-improve-student-asse.  At that time, a number of states participated in

both consortia.  Several states have withdrawn since the initial awards were announced.

37. PARCC and SBAC were created to implement the objectives of the RTTT

program.  Fully funded and principally directed by the federal government, these

consortia function as an inescapable conduit to eliminate the “existing patchwork of

State standards” and assessments; hence, to nationalize curriculum.  As stated by

Secretary Duncan, “curriculum can only be as good as the academic standards to which

the assessments and curriculum are pegged.” See http://www.ed.gov/news/speeches/

beyond-bubble-tests-next-generation-assessments-secretary-arne-duncans-remarks-stat

e-l.

38. In the award letter to PARCC of September 28, 2010, the Department

emphasized PARCC’s commitment to federal oversight and direction:
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This award is subject to the attached grant conditions related to administering

the grant, monitoring sub-recipients, reporting, maintaining adequate financial

controls and procedures regarding the selection, award, and administration of

contracts or agreements.  Further, in accordance with 34 CFR 75.234(b), this award is

classified as a cooperative agreement and will include substantial involvement on the

part of the Department of Education (Department) program contact.  As noted in the

grant award documents, we expect that PARCC and the Department will

successfully negotiate and complete a final cooperative agreement the recipient

signs and returns no later than January 7, 2011.

http://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop-assessment/parcc-award-letter.pdf

(emphasis added).

39. PARCC has assured the Department that its top priority for the grant

funds is “to help its member states make a successful transition from current state

standards and assessments to the implementation of Common Core State Standards

(CCSS) and PARCC assessments by the 2014-2015 school year.”  PARCC further

pledged to use the funds for development of “high quality instructional tools” focused

on “a set of high-quality model instructional units that highlight the most significant

advances in the CCSS and PARCC assessments.”  See http://www.edweek.org/media/

parccsupplementalproposal12-23achievefinal.pdf.

40. For all relevant purposes, PARCC and SBAC are agents of the Department

in the implementation of the RTTT programs.
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ESEA and NCLB Implications: Post Acceptance Coercion

41. On September 23, 2011, the Department announced the Conditional No

Child Left Behind (“NCLB”) Waiver Plan, which allows the States to waive several

major accountability requirements under the ESEA “in exchange for rigorous and

comprehensive State-developed plans designed to improve educational outcomes for

students, close achievement gaps, increase equity, and improve the quality of

education.” See Duncan letter at http://www2.ed.gov/print/policy/gen/guid/secletter 

110923.html.

42. In exchange for receiving a waiver, the Department requires States to

agree to four conditions: (1) adopt college-ready and career-ready standards in at least

reading/language and mathematics and develop and administer annual, statewide,

aligned assessments that measure student growth in at least grades 3 through 8 and at

least once in high school; (2) develop certain accountability systems; (3) develop and

implement new systems for evaluating principal and teacher performance and student

growth; and (4) remove certain reporting requirements that have little impact on

student outcomes.  See U.S. Dept. Of Educ., ESEA Flexibility Policy Document, available

at http://www.ed.gov/esea/flexibility/documents/esea-flexibility-acc.doc.

43. No authority exists in the ESEA permitting the Secretary to grant waivers

in exchange for such conditions.

18

http://www2.ed.gov/print/policy/gen/guid/secletter/110923.html
http://www2.ed.gov/print/policy/gen/guid/secletter/110923.html
http://www.ed.gov/esea/flexibility/documents/esea-flexibility-acc.doc


44. Nevertheless, a “state educational agency” seeking a NCLB waiver must

declare whether it has “adopted college- and career-ready standards . . . that are

common to a significant number of States” or adopted by a network of institutions of

higher education, as long as consistent with the Department’s definition of such

standard, i.e., the Common Core standards. See U.S. Dept. Of Educ., ESEA Flexibility

Policy Document, available at http://www.ed.gov/esea/flexibility/documents/esea-

flexibility-acc.doc.

45. In addition, based on guidance from the Department, it is widely

anticipated that the NCLB standards and assessments review process will be

supplanted by the Common Core standards and assessment process developed under

RTTT. See letter of December 21, 2012 to State education officials from the Assistant

Secretary of the Department, stating:

We believe that revisiting this process is particularly important at this

time, given that both the absolute priority established for Race to the Top

Assessment (RTTA) program and the ESEA flexibility principles

established the same requirements for an assessment system….In

reviewing the process and criteria for examining state assessment systems,

the Department will consider how well the existing process and criteria

measure the extent to which state assessment systems for states participating in RTTA

or ESEA flexibility meet these requirements and what changes might improve the

Department's evaluation of the technical quality, validity and reliability of state

assessments required under the ESEA.

See http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/campaign-k-12/Dear%20Chiefs%20Letter%20on%
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20State%20Assessment%20Transition.12.21.2012.pdf;  See also http://www2.ed.gov

/admins/lead/account/saa.html#changes;  http://www.ed.gov/blog/2013  

/08/help-ed-improve-how-we-evaluate-state-assessment-systems/; and http://blogs.ed

week.org/edweek/curriculum/2014/06/us_ed_dept_draft_of_assessment.html?qs=ccsso.

46. The Department has tethered NCLB waivers and other ESEA conditions to

the RTTT program objectives of Common Core standards and assessments, thus

coercing States to participate in the objectionable RTTT conditions under the threat of

more onerous conditions and/or the loss of funding under ESEA and NCLB.

Louisiana: Climbing Out of the Trap

47. In January 2010, the Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary

Education (“BESE”) passed a resolution to adopt the Common Core standards. 

48. In June 2010, the State entered a “Memorandum of Understanding” with

PARCC to participate in the Race to the Top Assessment Program (copy attached as

Exhibit “A”).     

49. In 2012, the Louisiana legislature enacted a provision requiring that

assessments for “English language arts and mathematics shall be based on nationally

recognized content standards that represent the knowledge and skills needed for

students to successfully transition to postsecondary education and the workplace.
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Rigorous student achievement standards shall be set with reference to test scores of the

same grade levels nationally.”  La. R.S. 17:24.4(F)(1)(d).

50. Although requiring “nationally recognized content standards,” the

legislature has not mandated or endorsed any particular assessment product, vendor, or

methodology. 

51. The good intentions of Common Core and the “voluntariness” of PARCC

participation have proven to be illusory.  In fact, Louisiana now finds itself trapped in a

federal scheme to nationalize curriculum.  What started as good State intentions has 

materialized into the federalization of education policy through federal economic

incentives and duress. 

52. Through 2013, Louisiana was awarded $17,442,972 under the RTTT

program, with roughly half of those funds allocated directly to the local districts. See

Race to the Top, Louisiana Report, Year 2: December 2012-December 2013,

http://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/performance/louisiana-year-2.pdf.

Although the funding was greatly needed, the loss of State and local authority over

education curricula and assessment policy is unmeasurable and irreparable.

53. Moreover, uncertainty regarding the role and authority of the federal

government (and its agent PARCC) under the RTTT and the rights and commitments of

the State under the MOU have resulted in pending litigation in state court between
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Governor Jindal and BESE.  Navis Hill, et al, vs. Bobby Jindal, et al, Docket No. 632,1270,

19th Judicial District Court, State of Louisiana.

54. At the heart of the state litigation is the issue of whether the State has

effectively ceded its sovereign authority over education policy to the federal

government through its participation with PARCC vis-a-vis the RTTT programs. 

According to BESE, participation in PARCC is voluntary and the State and local districts

retain their authority over curriculum and assessments.  BESE has been and continues

to be misled.

55. The controversy in Louisiana over the reach of the RTTT programs into

state sovereignty is a microcosm of the dilemma faced by other States who are likewise

attempting to improve the outcomes of public education without surrendering

authority over policy-making that fundamentally and constitutionally belongs at the

local level. 

  VI.  CLAIMS

Count One: Declaratory Judgment:  The conditioning of grant funding on the

requirement that States agree to join a consortium of States under federal direction and

to adopt common content standards and assessments developed by the consortium

violates federal law.

56. Paragraphs 1 through 55 are incorporated herein by reference.

57. All RTTT programs are "applicable programs" under the GEPA.  20 U.S.C.
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§ 1221(c)(1) ("any program for which the Secretary or the Department has

administrative responsibility as provided by law or by delegation of authority pursuant

to law. The term includes each program for which the Secretary or the Department has

administrative responsibility under the Department of Education Organization Act [20

U.S.C.A. § 3401 et seq.] or under Federal law effective after the effective date of that

Act"). 

58. The GEPA prohibits the construction of any "any applicable program . . .

to authorize any department, agency, officer, or employee of the United States to

exercise any direction, supervision, or control over the curriculum, program of

instruction, administration, or personnel of any educational institution, school, or

school system, or over the selection of library resources, textbooks, or other printed or

published instructional materials by any educational institution or school system . . .."

20 U.S.C. § 1232a.

59. The Department's requirement that States join a consortium of States

under federal direction and adopt common content standards and assessments

developed by the consortium as a condition of grant funding under the ARRA violates

20 U.S.C. § 1232a.

60. In addition, as such action is not "authorized by law" it likewise violates 20

U.S.C. § 3403(b), prohibiting the construction of "any program administered by the
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Secretary or any other officer of the Department . . . to exercise any direction,

supervision, or control over curriculum, program of instruction, . . . the selection or

content of library resources, textbooks, or other instructional materials by any

educational institution or school system, except to the extent authorized by law."  

61. Further, to the extent the Department is administering the RTTT programs

under or in accordance with the ESEA as amended by NCLB, such action is in violation

of 20 U.S.C. § 7007(a), prohibiting the creation of program conditions based on federal

direction or control over education curriculum and programs of instruction.  

62. Under 28 U.S.C. § 2201, Plaintiffs is entitled to a declaration invalidating

the Department's rules and regulations under RTTT that condition the award of grant

funding on the requirement that States agree to join a consortium under federal

direction and adopt common content standards and assessments products developed

by the consortium. 

Count Two: Declaratory Judgment - Violation of the Tenth Amendment

63. Paragraphs 1 through 62 are incorporated herein by reference.

64. The Tenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States reserves to

the States all “powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution.”  U.S.

Const. amend X.  The Constitution makes no provision for federal power over

education policy.  Congress has acknowledged this sovereign right of States and local
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governments.  See e.g., DEOA of 1979 declaring the intention to “protect the rights of

State and local governments . . . in the area of educational policies”, 20 U.S.C. § 3403(a).

65. The Department’s conditioning of RTTT grants, under the authority of the

ARRA, on the agreement of a State to join a consortium of States under federal direction

and to adopt common content standards and assessment products developed by the

consortium violates the sovereignty of States under the Tenth Amendment.  Federal

direction of curriculum and assessment policy is plainly prohibited under federal law

and thus cannot be implemented by executive action under the auspices of the

Spending Clause, U.S. Const., Art., I, § 8, cl.1.  Under the Spending Clause, a federal

grant of funds must be related “to the federal interest in particular national projects or

programs.”  South Dakota v. Dole, 483 U.S. 203, 207-208 (1987).  Congress has clearly

expressed its lack of authority for and interest in legislating a national curriculum.

66. Defendants’ implementation of the RTTT program violates the Tenth

Amendment. 

  Count Three: Declaratory Judgment - Unlawful Coercion Under the Tenth

Amendment

67. Paragraphs 1 through 66 are incorporated herein by reference.

68. The Supreme Court has “made clear that the Federal Government may not

compel the States to implement, by legislation or executive action, federal regulatory
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programs.”  Printz v. U.S., 521 U.S. 898, 925 (1997).  “Permitting the Federal

Government to force the States to implement a federal program would threaten the

political accountability key to our federal system. ‘[W]here the Federal Government

directs the States to regulate, it may be state officials who will bear the brunt of public

disapproval, while the federal officials who devised the regulatory program may

remain insulated from the electoral ramifications of their decision.’”  Nat'l Fed'n of

Indep. Bus. v. Sebelius, 132 S. Ct. 2566, 2602, 183 L. Ed. 2d 450 (2012) (quoting New York

vs. United States, 505 U.S. 144, 169, 112 S. Ct. 2408, 2424, 120 L. Ed. 2d 120 (1992)). 

Further, because conditional federal spending is in the nature of a contract, States must

be clearly apprised of all conditions, and coercive post-acceptance conditions may not

be imposed.  Sebelius, 132 S. Ct. at 2606.  

69. Although Congress has “broad power to set the terms on which it

disburses federal money,” Arlington Cent. Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. Murphy, 548 U.S.

291, 296, 126 S. Ct. 2455, 2459, 165 L. Ed. 2d 526 (2006), federal authority cannot be

wielded as a “scheme for purchasing with federal funds submission to federal

regulation of a subject reserved to the states.”  United States v. Butler, 297 U.S. 1, 72, 56

S. Ct. 312, 322, 80 L. Ed. 477 (1936). 

70. Grant inducements to States and local districts to join a federally-

commissioned consortium of States and to adopt a uniform set of content standards and
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assessment products directed by the consortium, tethered to the threatened loss of

continued grant funding under both the RTTT and NCLB, constitutes unlawful coercion

that exceeds federal authority and violates the Tenth Amendment.  

Count Four: Injunctive Relief

71. Paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated herein by reference.

72. Under Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a preliminary

injunction is authorized upon showing:

(1) A substantial likelihood of success on the merits,

(2) A substantial threat that plaintiff will suffer irreparable injury if the

injunction if denied,

(3) That the threatened injury outweighs any damage that the

injunction might cause defendants; and

(4) That the injunction will not disserve the public interest.

Sugar Busters, LLC v. Brennan, 177 F.3d 258, 265 (5th Cir. 1999).

73. Plaintiff is entitled to a preliminary and in due course a permanent

injunction enjoining Defendants from enforcing the provisions of the RTTT programs,

under the authority of the ARRA, that require States to join a consortium of States

under federal direction and to adopt common content standards and assessment

products developed by the consortium as a condition of RTTT grant funding, and from

taking any action to disqualify or penalize a State from participation in RTTT programs
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based on a State’s refusal to agree to such unlawful actions.

VII.  PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows:

            A. For a declaration of rights and obligations under the American Recovery

and Reinvestment Act of 2009 in relation to the Race to the Top program; 

            B. For an Order declaring the Department’s RTTT Policies and Regulations

requiring that States join a consortium of States under federal direction

and adopt a common content standards and assessment products as a

violation of the Tenth Amendment and a violation of federal law; and 

 C. For a Preliminary and, in due course, a Permanent Injunction, without

security, enjoining Defendants, the United States Department of

Education and Secretary Arne Duncan, from enforcing the provisions of

the RTTT program, under the authority of the ARRA, that require States to

join a consortium of States under federal direction and to adopt common

content standards and assessment products developed by the consortium

as a condition of RTTT grant funding; and 

           D. For all other relief the Court deems just and proper.  
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Respectfully submitted,

FAIRCLOTH, MELTON & KEISER, L.L.C.

By:     /s/ Jimmy R. Faircloth, Jr.                        

Jimmy R. Faircloth, Jr.     #20645 (T.A.)

jfaircloth@fairclothlaw.com 

Barbara Bell Melton #27956

bmelton@fairclothlaw.com 

Christie C. Wood #32065

cwood@fairclothlaw.com 

        105 Yorktown Drive

Alexandria, LA 71301

Phone 318-619-7755

Fax 318-619-7744

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF, BOBBY

JINDAL, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS

GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF

LOUISIANA
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